### ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

## Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,207

FLORIDA PETROLEUM MARKETERS ASSOCIATION, INC.; ALSAX CORPORATION; UNITED FUELS CORPORATION; MILLER ENTERPRISES, INC.; HUNTLEY'S JIFFY STORES, INC.; MUNFORD, INC.; CLARDY OIL COMPANY; MCB OIL COMPANY; DIXON OIL CORPORATION; THOMAS OIL COMPANY, INC.; RALLY FOOD STORES, INC.; RICHARDSON OIL COMPANY, INC.; COTTON'S MIN-A-MART; LEWIS OIL COMPANY, INC.; GATE PETROLEUM COMPANY; SUWANNEE SWIFTY STORES, INC.; LIL' CHAMP FOOD STORES, INC.; DIXIE OIL COMPANY, INC.; and FLORIDA WELCOME STATION, INC.,

Appellees.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, from a decision of the First District Court of Appeal declaring Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, invalid under Article III, Section 6 and Article III, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution.

On June 22, 1987, ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA (the "County") adopted Ordinance 87-10 and filed it with the Secretary of State on June 24, 1987. This Ordinance provided for more stringent regulation of underground storage tanks. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 376.317, Florida Statutes (1987), the County submitted Ordinance 87-10 to the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation ("DER") for its review and approval. On July 7, 1987, DER issued its Intent to Approve Ordinance 87-10.

Thereafter, FLORIDA PETROLEUM MARKETERS ASSOCIATION, INC. ("FPMA"), and others not a party to this action, filed Petitions pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes, requesting a Formal Administrative Hearing on the Intent to Approve issued by DER.

Prior to the administrative hearing on FPMA's Petition, the Florida Legislature substantially amended the provisions of Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, in two separate Acts. Prior to these amendments, Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, permitted a county to adopt standards for underground storage tanks which were more stringent than state rules, provided that such standards were

in force prior to September 1, 1984, or that they were approved by DER.

The first amendment to Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, was contained in Section 6 of Chapter 88-331, Laws of Florida (A-40), and required that prior to seeking approval from DER for an ordinance establishing more stringent or extensive standards for underground storage tanks, a county must effectively administer the state law or rule for a period of two years. The two exceptions to this requirement were that those ordinances in force prior to September 1, 1984 need not obtain DER approval, and those counties which had sought approval from DER prior to January 1, 1988 need not administer state laws or rules for any minimum period of time prior to seeking DER approval.

The second amendment to Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, was contained in Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida (A-30). That amendment expanded the previously existing exception and provided that all ordinances adopted by a county and filed with the Secretary of State prior to July 1, 1987, rather than September 1, 1984, need not be approved by DER. This amendment had the effect of permitting Alachua and any other county which had adopted an underground storage tank ordinance prior to July 1, 1987, to have such ordinance become effective without DER approval.

Appellees, the FPMA, a trade association, and certain individual petroleum retailers in Alachua County filed suit in circuit court alleging that Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, and

specifically that "Amendment 1 to Amendment 1 to CS/SB 155 (1988)" was in violation of the Florida Constitution. The matter was heard in the Eighth Judicial Circuit on January 11, 1989 (T 1-79). Subsequently, the trial court entered a Final Judgment on February 21, 1989 (A-1), finding that Chapter 88-156 violated Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, in that it embraced more than one subject and that Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, was a special law for which notice was not published and, therefore, the law was in violation of Article III, Sections 10 and 11(b) of the Florida Constitution. The trial court struck Section 18 of Chapter 88-156.

The County filed a Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal. On December 4, 1989, the First District filed an opinion affirming the trial court finding that Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, was unconstitutional as in violation of Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, the single subject rule, and in violation of Article III, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution, as a local law, notice of which was not published in accordance with general law.

Timely notice of appeal was filed to this Court on December 19, 1989.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, does not violate the single subject requirement of Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, since its provisions have a natural and logical connection with the subject of the Act. The subject of Chapter 88-156, in general, is the construction industry, which includes the regulation of contractors, the standards for the services they provide and the regulatory and products responsibility of state and local government. Section 18 amends Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, dealing with the standards required for underground storage tanks, which are within the purview of the construction industry. Numerous other sections throughout the Act deal with pollutant storage tanks (which definition includes the same underground storage tanks referenced by Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida), the contractors who install them, and the interrelationship between local and state governments for the regulation and inspection of such tanks.

In addition, Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, is a general law not a special law and is, therefore, not in violation of Article III, Section 10 or Article III, Section 11(b) of the Florida Constitution. Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, which was amended by Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, governs those circumstances whereby a county may adopt more stringent standards for the regulation of underground storage tanks. The amendment in question does no more than recognize

those counties which have previously adopted more stringent standards. Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, amends the date before which existing local underground storage tanks are "grandfathered", providing that any local ordinance adopted by a county and filed with the Secretary of State before July 1, 1987, need not be approved by DER. It extends the class of local governments which are exempted from approval by DER. Any classification which does exist under Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, is a valid classification since it recognizes local efforts in the adoption of more stringent standards for the regulation of underground storage tanks and is reasonably related to the subject of the law.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

# CHAPTER 88-156 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution provides as follows:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title. No law shall be revised or amended by reference to its title only. Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, section, subsection or paragraph of a subsection. The enacting clause of every law shall read: 'Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:'.

The Florida Supreme Court has consistently held that the scope of an enactment may be as broad and comprehensive as the Legislature chooses and not be in violation of the single subject rule, provided the matters included in the law have a natural and logical connection. <u>In Re: Advisory Opinion to the Governor</u>, 509 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978). Furthermore, wide latitude must be afforded the Legislature in the enactment of laws and a statute will be stricken only if it is in plain violation of the single subject rule. <u>State v. Lee</u>, <u>Id</u>.

The general test under the single subject requirement is whether the matters within the act "have a natural or logical connection." <u>Board of Public Instruction v. Doran</u>, 224 So.2d 693

(Fla. 1969). In Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080,

1087 (Fla. 1987), the Court stated:

The test to determine whether legislation meets the single-subject requirement is based on common sense. It requires examining the act to determine if the provisions are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act, or are such as are necessary incidents to or tend to make effective or promote the objects and purposes of legislation included in the subject.

The district court below stated as follows concerning Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida:

> legislative session During the 1988 an amendment was made to Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, a pending bill which amended Chapter relating to the regulation of the 489 The amendment added construction industry. Section 18 amending Chapter 376, relating to pollutant discharge prevention and removal, a subject totally distinct and different from regulation of the construction industry. Alachua County v. Florida Petroleum Marketers Association, Case No. 89-511 (Fla. 1st DCA, December 4, 1989) (A-45).

A review of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, and Section 18 of the Act demonstrates that the provisions of Section 18 are not distinct and different, but are "fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act" under the common sense test stated in <u>Smith v.</u> <u>Department of Insurance, Id</u>. Contrary to the holding of the district court below, the provisions of Section 18 are not "totally distinct and different from regulation of the construction industry."

The specific section of the Act which the district court held related to a different subject from the remainder of the act is contained in Section 18 of Chapter 88-156 and states in part:

Section 18. Subsection (3) of section 376.317, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:

376.317. Superseded laws; state preemption

(3) A county government is authorized to adopt countywide ordinances that regulate underground storage tanks, as described herein, which ordinances are the same as or more stringent or extensive than any state law or rule regulating such tanks, provided:

(a) The original ordinance was legally adopted by the county and filed with the Secretary of State before July 1, 1987 and in force before September 1, 1984; or

The underground storage tanks referenced in this section relate to tanks which contain petroleum products and are by definition pollutant storage tanks.<sup>1</sup>

(b) "Pollutant storage tank" means a tank, together with associated piping or dispensing facilities, which is or could be used for the storage or supply of pollutants as defined in s. 376.301 and which is required to be registered under chapter 17-61 of the Florida Administrative Code or for which notification must be submitted under Subtitle I of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.

Section 376.301(12), Florida Statutes, in turn, defines "pollutants" as including any product defined in Section 377.19(11). Section 377.19(11) defines the term "product" as including any petroleum product. Therefore, underground storage tanks referred to in Section 18 are included within "pollutant storage tanks", which are referred to throughout the Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Section 489.133(1)(b) as created by Section 16 of Chapter 88-156 (1988), defines "pollutant storage tank" as follows:

A review of Chapter 88-156 demonstrates that the regulation of the installation and the standards required for underground storage tanks are interwoven throughout the provisions of Chapter 88-156 and are not confined to Section 18. The Act deals not only with the persons who install underground storage tanks, but also the standards that are required for such tanks and the delegation of responsibility for enforcement. The following sections relating to the regulation of pollutant storage tanks or pollutant storage tank contractors can be found in Chapter 88-156.

(a) <u>Section 1</u>: Amends Section 489.101, Florida Statutes, defining the "purpose" of Chapter 489, to recognize that the construction and home improvement industries may pose "a danger of" significant harm to the public when incompetent or dishonest contractors provide unsafe, unstable or short-lived <u>products or</u> <u>services</u>. Clearly, the amended statute deals with much more than contractor's licensing but relates also to the products and services they provide (A-7).

(b) <u>Section 3</u>:

(i) Amends Section 489.105, Florida Statutes, in several aspects relating to underground storage tanks. First, it deletes the definitions of "pollutant storage systems specialty contractor," "pollutant storage tank," "tank" and "registered precision tank tester" from Section 489.105 (A-12). Such definitions are readopted in Section 16 of the Act as Section 489.133, Florida Statutes (A-27), and each of these definitions are directly related to the subject of Section 18 (A-30).

(ii) Amends the definition of "Plumbing contractor," in Section 489.105(3)(m) which definition includes a contractor who installs, maintains or repairs ". . . fuel oil and gasoline piping and tank and pump installation . . . " (A-10).

(iii) Amends the definition of "Mechanical contractor" in Section 489.105(3)(i), Florida Statutes, which definition includes a person who installs, maintains, repairs, fabricates, alters, extends, or designs gasoline tanks and related pump installations and piping. These are the same underground storage tanks referred to in Section 18, the challenged section (A-9).

(c) <u>Section 7</u>: Amends Section 489.113, Florida Statutes, by allowing a county or municipality to prevent any contractor that is not certified from engaging in the business of contracting, thereby authorizing regulation of the construction industry by local government including those contractors who install underground storage tanks (A-16). It further deletes subsection (7)-(12) from Section 489.113, Florida Statutes, which relate to the following:

(i) Requiring certification by pollutant storage systems specialty contractors that installation of a pollutant storage tank complies with the requirements of Section 376.303, Florida Statutes (A-18);<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 376.303, Florida Statutes, establishes the state regulations and standards for underground storage tanks for which a local government may adopt a more stringent standard under the provisions of Section 18 of Chapter 88-156 (Section 376.317, Florida Statutes).

(ii) Requiring the adoption of rules relating to the certification of pollutant storage systems specialty contractors(A-17);

(iii) Restricting local governments from issuing any building permits or other related permits for the installation of pollutant storage tanks (A-18);

(iv) Requiring the certification of pollutant storage systems specialty contractors (A-17);

(v) Authorizing DER to inspect pollutant storage tank
installation to determine compliance with required standards (A 18);

(vi) Authorizing DER to the greatest extent possible to contract with local governments to administer the responsibilities under this section, including the inspection and certification of pollutant storage tanks to determine that they are installed in accordance with required standards (A-18);

(vii) Establishing a pilot inspection program in counties for the inspection of the installation of pollutant storage tanks to determine compliance with the required standards and authorizing DER to contract with counties for the administration of the program (A-19).

All of the above deletions are readopted in their entirety in Section 17 of Chapter 88-156 as Section 376.303, Florida Statutes.

(f) <u>Section 13</u>: Authorizing a county or municipality to designate a code inspector to enforce the provisions relating to

certification and registration, including those related to underground storage tanks (A-23).

(g) <u>Section 15</u>: Amends portions of Section 489.131, Florida Statutes, which provides that a municipality or a county may regulate the quality and the character of the work performed by contractors and may adopt a permit system requiring approval of plans before work is performed by the contractor (A-26-27). Therefore, the scope of the subject matter of Chapter 88-156 exceeds merely the regulation of contractors but extends to the standards required of the product and the responsibility for administration.

(h) <u>Section 16</u>: As previously stated, readopts as Section 489.133, Florida Statutes, those provisions deleted by Section 3 of Chapter 88-156 above, including the definitions of "pollutant storage tank," "pollutant storage systems specialty contractor," "tank" and "registered precision tank tester." The section also requires that all installations of underground pollutant storage tanks must meet the criteria of Section 376.303, Florida Statutes, the state standards for installation and regulation of underground storage tanks (A-27-29). These are the state standards addressed in Section 18, the challenged portion of Chapter 88-156.

(i) <u>Section 17</u>: Readopts as Section 376.303, Florida Statutes, those provisions deleted by Section 7 of Chapter 88-156 above (A-29). These provisions require DER to adopt rules for pollutant storage tank inspection programs; restrict local governments from issuing permits for installation of pollutant

storage tanks; requires the certification for pollutant storage systems specialty contractors; authorizes DER to inspect pollutant storage tanks prior to the tank being put in operation; authorizes DER to the greatest extent possible to contract with local governments to administer the responsibilities for the inspection of pollutant storage tanks to establish a pilot program for the inspection of pollutant storage tanks; and authorizes DER to contract with counties for the administration of these programs. Thus, Section 17 addresses the responsibilities of local government and DER in the regulation of pollutant storage tanks and complements the other provisions of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, including the contested section, Section 18, dealing with contractors and the products they install.

In reviewing the other sections of Chapter 88-156, it becomes clear that Section 18 is properly connected to and has a natural and logical relationship with the other provisions. <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978). Moreover, the provisions of Section 18 "tend to make effective or promote the objects and purposes" of legislation included in the subject," <u>Smith v. Department of Insurance</u>, 507 So.2d 1080, 1087 (Fla. 1987), namely the regulation of the construction industry, including pollutant storage tank contractors, the standards required for the products and services they provide and the assignment of responsibility for the enforcement of regulations between state and local government. Therefore, Chapter 88-156 does not violate the single subject

requirement contained in the Florida Constitution as that provision has been construed by the court.

Particularly analogous is the Florida Supreme Court decision in <u>State v. Canova</u>, 94 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1957). In <u>Canova</u>, an amendment to the law regulating pharmacists was challenged as violating the single subject requirement on the grounds that it regulated both pharmacists and sale of medicines administered by pharmacists. Finding the challenged law not in violation of the single subject requirement, the Court stated:

> In our opinion, the regulation of the sales of medicines prepared by pharmacists is a subject closely related to the broad, inclusive subject of 'Pharmacy'. Provisions concerning places in which such sales are made are provisions necessarily incident to, or tend to make effective or to promote the object and purpose of the legislation included in the subject expressed in the title of the act. In fact we do not see how the practice of pharmacy could be adequately regulated without regulation of the sales of the work product of pharmacists and regulation of the places where such work is performed and the work product Such provisions may be regarded as sold. matters properly connected with the expressed subject: 'An Act Relating to Pharmacy'. Such provisions are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act. <u>Canova</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 185-186. (emphasis added)

As in <u>Canova</u>, the regulation of the standards and requirements for the installation of underground storage tanks is so necessarily interrelated to the regulation of the installers of such tanks that they cannot be separated. Furthermore, as stated in <u>Canova</u>:

> Should any doubt exist that an act is in violation of art. III, sec. 16 of the Constitution [the predecessor single subject requirement], or of any constitutional provision, the presumption is in favor of

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