THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILE SID J. WHITE

FEB 13 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Deputy Clerk

ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO. 75,207

FLORIDA PETROLEUM MARKETERS ASSOCIATION, INC., ALSAX CORPORATION, UNITED FUELS CORPORATION, MILLER ENTERPRISES, INC., HUNTLEY'S JIFFY STORES, INC., MUNFORD, INC., CLARDY OIL COMPANY, MCB OIL COMPANY, DIXON OIL CORPORATION, THOMAS OIL COMPANY, INC., RALLY FOOD STORES, INC., RICHARDSON OIL COMPANY, INC., COTTON'S MIN-A-MART, LEWIS OIL COMPANY, INC., GATE PETROLEUM COMPANY, SUWANNEE SWIFTY STORES, INC., LIL' CHAMP FOOD STORES, INC., DIXIE OIL COMPANY, INC., and FLORIDA WELCOME STATION, INC.,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the trial court found, and the district court agreed, Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, has as its subject the adoption of ordinances by counties seeking to regulate owners and operators of petroleum storage facilities, i.e., gas stations, bulk plants, and other locations storing petroleum products. The purpose of any such regulation is to protect the state's ground and surface waters. See Section 376.30, Florida Statutes (1987). The remainder of Chapter 88-156 has as its subject qualification, licensing, and practice standards for contractors. See Section 489.101, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988). The purpose of these standards, found in Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, is to protect the public against dishonest and incompetent contractors. Consequently, Chapter 88-156 fails to "embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith," as required by Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution.

The trial court also found, and the district court concurred, that Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, though not specifically naming Alachua County, creates a classification which only applies (and can only apply in the future) to Alachua County, and is a special or local law. This classification permits Alachua County to adopt ordinances regulating petroleum storage facilities. Other counties (except Dade and Broward whose ordinances were properly "grandfathered" in 1984) must have their ordinances approved by the DER, or the ordinances will be preempted by Section 376.317(2), Florida Statutes (1987 and Supp. 1988). Since adoption of Section 18 was not noticed in accordance with general law, it is unconstitutional under Article III, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution.

In addition, Alachua County had argued that Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, should be sustained as a general law under Article III, Section 11(b) of the Florida

Constitution. The trial court found that even assuming that the law is a general law, the law fails to classify counties on a basis reasonably related to the subject of the law. There is simply no record evidence showing why, from the point of view of the 1988 Legislature, Alachua County (or any county other than Dade and Broward enacting a petroleum storage system ordinance before July 1, 1987) should be classified differently from other counties.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 18, CHAPTER 88-156, LAWS OF FLORIDA, VIOLATES THE SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

In its Final Judgment, the trial court found as follows:

- 6. Section 18 of Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, pertains only to adoption of ordinances by county governments regulating owners and operators of underground storage tank systems, and in no way relates to the licensing of contractors.
- (R. 134). In affirming the trial court's Final Judgment, the district court found as follows:
 - ... In this case the pending bill containing some 16 sections amending Chapter 489, relating to the regulation of the construction industry, was amended by adding Section 18 to amend Chapter 376, relating to pollutant discharge prevention and removal, a subject totally distinct and different from the subject matter of the act before the amendment. The provisions of Section 18 are not germane to the construction industry, the subject of the pending act it amended, nor are its provisions such as are necessary incidents to, or which tend to make effective or promote, the objects and purposes of the pending construction industry litigation. Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987).

Alachua County, Florida v. Florida Petroleum Marketers Ass'n, 14 FLW 2777, 2778 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 4, 1989).

The trial court and the district court thus held that Section 18, Chapter 88-156, Laws of Florida, violated the "single subject" requirement of Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution. This Section provides, in relevant part, as follows:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title. The test for determining whether a law violates the single subject requirement is set forth in Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080, 1087 (Fla. 1987):

The test to determine whether legislation meets the single-subject requirement is based on common sense. It requires examining the act to determine if the provisions "are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act, or are such as are necessary incidents to or tend to make effective or promote the objects and purposes of legislation included in the subject."

(Citation Omitted.)

As this Court stated in <u>In Re Advisory Opinion to the Governor</u>, 509 So. 2d 292, 313 (Fla. 1987):

The single subject rule has a twofold purpose. First, it attempts to avoid surprise or fraud by ensuring that both the public and the legislators involved receive fair and reasonable notice of the contents of a proposed act. Secondly, the limitation prevents "hodgepodge, logrolling legislation."

In examining the first concern, it is clear that persons such as owners and operators of service stations and petroleum marketing facilities would not be on fair notice that a bill regulating contractors affects the daily operation of their businesses. Turning to the second concern of the "single subject" requirement, the requirement was designed to prevent logrolling which results in hodgepodge or omnibus legislation.⁵

⁵ Senators Langley and Thurman both recognized the logrolling inherent in CS/SB 155 (1988) in their explanation of vote spread upon the pages of the June 7, 1988 Journal of the Senate. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 8). Senator Langley stated "I voted against this bill even though it provided some necessary and major changes in the licensing acts." Senator Thurman stated:

that my vote for Committee Substitute for Senate Bill 155 was made under protest. While I am supportive of maintaining the regulation of Florida's construction industry, I strongly oppose the amendment which would allow Alachua County to preempt the provisions of Chapter 17-61 of the Florida Administrative Code.

Williams v. State, 459 So. 2d 319, 320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). As Justice Brown wrote in Colonial Investments Co. v. Nolan, 100 Fla. 1349, 131 So. 178 (1930),

It had become quite common for legislative bodies to embrace in the same bill incongruous matters having no relationship to each other. . . . And frequently such distinct subjects, affecting diverse interests, were combined in order to unite the members who favored either in support of all

In <u>Fine v. Firestone</u>, 448 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1984), this Court noted its concern over subversion of the legislative process where bills were passed which have no majority support, but which were passed because legislators were voting to approve other portions of the bill. In the case of Chapter 88-156, it is clear that the inclusion of Section 18 caused concern among some legislators, particularly in the Senate, who wished to reenact Chapter 489, Florida Statutes. <u>See</u> footnote 5, <u>infra; see also</u>, <u>Department of Education v. Lewis</u>, 416 So. 2d 455, 459 (Fla. 1982). (A lawmaker must not be placed in the position of having to accept a repugnant provision in order to achieve adoption of a desired one.) Furthermore, as was also evident with CS/SB 155 (1988),

[i]t could also impair the Governor's veto power if he or she were forced to accept an unwanted or undesirable provision in order to obtain the enactment of a desirable one.

Williams, 459 So. 2d at 320, citing Brown v. Firestone, 382 So. 2d 654, 663 (Fla. 1980).

Chapter 489 provides examination, licensing, and practice requirements for all types of contractors licensed statewide by the Department of Professional Regulation ("DPR"). These professionals include building contractors, air conditioning contractors, pool and spa contractors, and others engaged in various types of contracting activities. Pursuant to Section 11.61, Florida Statutes (1987), the Regulatory Sunset Act, Chapter

489, was to be automatically repealed on October 1, 1988 (or would "sunset"), absent reenactment during the 1988 Legislative Session. Thus, CS/SB 155 (1988) was introduced during the 1988 Legislative Session to reenact Chapter 489.

As discussed in the Statement of the Case and Facts, CS/SB 155 (1988), did not amend Section 376.317, Florida Statutes, until Representative Martin offered his Amendment to CS/SB 155 (1988) in the closing days of the Legislative Session. Unlike the rest of CS/SB 155 (1988), Representative Martin's Amendment did not concern the regulation of the practice of "contracting", or even the "construction industry," but instead amended Section 376.317(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1987), as follows:

376.317. Superseded laws; state preemption

- (3) A county government is authorized to adopt countywide ordinances that regulate underground storage tanks, as described herein, which ordinances are more stringent or extensive than any state law or rule regulating such tanks, provided:
- (a) The original ordinance was legally adopted by the county and filed with the Secretary of State before July 1, 1987 and in force before September-1,-1984; or
- (b) The ordinance establishing the local program was approved by the department.

The department is authorized to adopt rules that permit any county government to establish, in accordance with s. 403.182, a program regulating underground storage tanks, which program is more stringent or extensive than that established by any state law of rule regulating underground storage tanks. The department shall approve or deny a request by a county for approval of an ordinance establishing such a program according to the procedures and limits of s. 120.60. When adopting the rules, the department shall consider local conditions that warrant such more stringent or extensive regulation of underground storage tanks, including, but not limited to, the proximity of the county to a sole or single source aquifer, the potential threat to the public water supply because of the proximity of

underground storage tanks to public wells or ground water, or the detection of petroleum products in public or private water supplies.

Alachua County argues that several provisions of Chapter 88-156, other than Section 18, pertain to petroleum storage systems, and therefore, that there is a logical connection between Section 18 and the rest of Chapter 88-156. The County's argument ignores the fact that the provisions of Chapter 88-156 (other than Section 18) which relate to petroleum storage systems do so only in so far as Chapter 88-156 regulates contractors who install, remove, or test petroleum storage systems. No other provision of Chapter 88-156 regulates owners and operators of petroleum storage system facilities.

In answer to Alachua County's section-by-section analysis, the County correctly notes that Section 1, Chapter 88-156, amends Section 489.101, Florida Statutes, by making a non-substantive, grammatical change to the statement of legislative purpose. However, Section 489.101, Florida Statutes, was not expanded to include regulation of the products and services which contractors use or provide. Rather, this "purpose" section merely recognizes that "incompetent or dishonest contractors" may provide unsafe products or services. But the Legislature recognized that the danger of unsafe products or services is inherent in the bad contractor, not in the bad product or in the daily operation of the business that hires the contractor. It is the contractor, not the product or the person hiring the contractor, being regulated.

Sections 3 and 16, Chapter 88-156, may be treated together. These Sections contain definitions for "pollutant storage system specialty contractors," "pollutant storage tanks" (and plumbing and mechanic contractors, who also may perform work relating to storage tanks) and "registered precision tank testers." These definitions are properly

incidental to Chapter 88-156 because they are necessary to identify who the legislature considers to be specialty contractors who install and test petroleum storage systems. Section 10, Chapter 88-156, which establishes licensing requirements for "petroleum storage system specialty contractors" is also necessary to meet the legislative purpose of providing specific licensing requirements for different contractors. Similarly, definitions of "Class C Air Conditioning Contractor" (Section 489.105(3)(h)) and "Swimming Pool Servicing Contractor" (Section 489.105(3)(l)) are necessary to regulate these contractors, but do not "open the door" to regulation of establishments with air conditioners or swimming pools under any fair reading of the "single subject" requirement. Sections 3, 10, and 16 of Chapter 88-156, do not lead to the conclusion that because it is necessary to define and to regulate contractors who install, and precision tank testers who test, petroleum storage systems, that wide-ranging regulation of businesses who maintain storage systems "tends to make effective or promote" the regulation of petroleum storage system contractors.

Section 7, Chapter 88-156, does no more than to allow any county or municipality to prevent any contractor, including petroleum storage system specialty contractors, from contracting without a license, in order to prevent dishonest or incompetent "contracting." Sections 13 and 15, Chapter 88-156, give counties and municipalities code enforcement and permitting authority to enforce these provisions. These Sections bear no relationship to Section 18, Chapter 88-156, which allows county regulation of owners and operators of petroleum storage system facilities.

Section 17, Chapter 88-156, readopts Section 376.303, Florida Statutes, which gives DER authority to adopt rules for local governments wishing to inspect the work performed by petroleum storage system specialty contractors. Incidental to the

regulation of contractors is government's ability to inspect a contractor's work to determine that the contractor is licensed and that the work is competently performed. Again, however, Section 17, Chapter 88-156, has no "natural and logical relationship" with Section 18, which allows for county regulation of how businesses, such as gasoline service stations, convenience stores, and petroleum marketers, operate long after the work of the contractor is done.

Unlike the foregoing provisions, Section 18, Chapter 88-156, did not purport to regulate contractors on a statewide basis. Nor did the legislation relate to any fair, common sense appraisal of what constitutes the "construction industry." Instead, in a classic case of "logrolling," this portion of the bill allowed Alachua County to impose requirements on owners and operators of petroleum storage systems which are more stringent or extensive than state law or regulation. Looking at Chapter 17-61, Florida Administrative Code, we can see examples of the type of requirements that can be imposed by counties on petroleum storage system owners and operators under Section 18, Chapter 88-156:

- --- System owners and operators must register their tanks with DER [Section 17-61.050(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code]
- System owners and operators must notify DER when they convert their systems to motor fuel systems, when they abandon their systems, when they sell their systems, or when they retrofit (upgrade) their systems [Section 17-61.050(1)(b), Florida Administrative Code]
- --- System owners and operators must report a discharge of motor fuels to DER [Section 17-61.050(1)(b.)4.-6., Florida Administrative Code]

- --- Requirements are provided for the maintenance of out-of-service and abandoned systems by owners and operators [Section 17-61.050 (3)(b),(c), Florida Administrative Code]
- --- Record keeping and contamination cleanup requirements are imposed on system owners and operators. The inventory requirements require that inventory measurements be made by the owner or operator for each day a system is used. [Section 17-61.050(4), Florida Administrative Code]
- --- Requirements are imposed on system owners and operators relating to the type of leak detection system, overfill protection, tanks, integral piping, and monitoring equipment that they may use. [Sections 17-61.050(2),(4)(c)(5), and 17-61.060, Florida Administrative Code]
- --- Requirements are imposed on system owners and operators regarding how and when they must retrofit their older systems. [Section 17-61.060(2)(c), Florida Administrative Code].

Turning to the Alachua County Tank Ordinance, Ordinance 87-10, additional provisions the County may enact under the challenged law which may impact system owners and operators include requirements that:

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